# MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ADMINISTRATION (MSA)



GRADUATE STUDENT HANDBOOK 2025 – 2026

#### **Table of Contents**

Welcome	5
Faculty and Staff Directory	6
Master of Science in Administration Program	7
MSA Program Mission Statement	7
MSA Leadership Statement	7
MSA Department Location	8
Admission and MSA Program Requirements	9
MSA Admission Requirements and Accelerated MSA Program	9
Graduate Student Responsibilities	9
MSA Degree and MSA Certificate Requirements	9
MSA Core Courses Required (18 hours)	9
MSA Program Concentrations	10
MSA Certificate Program	10
Course Registration	11
Procedures	11
Dropping and Adding Classes	11
Curriculum and Course Changes	11
Full Time Student Status	11
Maximum and Minimum Academic Loads	12
Internships	12
Other Options for Earning Credit	12
Transfer Credits	12
Maximum Number of Transfer Credits	13
Certification to Credit	14
Prior Learning Assessment Credit	14
Academic Integrity and more	14
Academic Integrity	
Students with Disabilities	15

Academic Probation	15
Inactive Status	15
Time Limits	15
Financial Assistance for Graduate Students	16
Legacy Tuition	16
Out-Of-State Tuition Merit Award	16
Financial Assistance	16
Financial/Billing Questions	16
On-Campus Employment	17
MSA Graduate Assistantships	17
Professional Development and Assistance for Graduate Students	18
MSA Peer Mentorship Program	
MSA Student Success Series	18
Graduation Requirements and Procedures	19
Application for Graduation	
Graduation Audit	19
Diplomas	19
Graduation Ceremonies	20
For International Students	20
English Proficiency Standards	
Curricular Practical Training (CPT) and Optional Practical Train	ning (OPT) 20
Curricular Practical Training (CPT)	20
Optional Practical Training (OPT)24 Month STEM Extension of OPT	
·	
Important Offices and Services	
MSA Program	
Office of Graduate Studies	22
CMU Online Programs	22
International Students and Scholars (ISSS)	22
Career Development Center	22
Veterans' Resources Center	22

Student Account Services and University Billing	23
Writing Center	23
Library Services	23
Multicultural Academic Student Services	23
Counseling Center	23
Student Health Services	23
IT HelpDesk	23

#### Welcome

Dear MSA Graduate Student,

Welcome to the Master of Science in Administration program at Central Michigan University. We are excited to have you join a diverse and dynamic community of aspiring leaders, professionals, and scholars. Whether you are beginning your graduate journey or returning to enhance your skills, you are now part of a program designed to empower, challenge, and support you every step of the way.

The MSA program is built on a foundation of interdisciplinary learning, practical application, and academic excellence. With flexible course offerings and experienced faculty, our goal is to help you develop the analytical, ethical, and strategic skills needed to lead effectively in today's complex organizations.

The Master of Science in Administration (MSA) degree is designed to develop **T-shaped professionals**; leaders who possess both **deep expertise** in a specific area (the vertical bar of the "T") and **broad skills** across disciplines (the horizontal bar). This unique combination equips graduates to solve complex problems, collaborate across functions, and adapt to rapidly changing organizational environments.



This handbook serves as a guide to your academic journey. Inside, you'll find important information about program requirements, course planning, advising, resources, and policies. We encourage you to refer to it often and to reach out with any questions or needs. Most importantly, we hope you take full advantage of the opportunities ahead and engage in meaningful dialogue, explore new perspectives, and embrace the challenges that will shape your growth as a leader.

We are here to support your successes and are honored to be part of your academic and professional path.

Respectfully,

Parveeza Gala

Interim Director
Master of Science in Administration
College of Education and Human Services
Central Michigan University
GALA1PK@CMICH.EDU
989-774-2367



# **Faculty and Staff Directory**



YUCEL HENDERSON FIXED-TERM FACULTY Master of Science in Administration HENDE1Y@CMICH.EDU



MICHAEL DILLON
FIXED-TERM FACULTY
Master of Science in Administration
DILLO1MD@CMICH.EDU
989-941-6330



ABBY MCGUIRE
FIXED-TERM FACULTY
Master of Science in Administration
ROHN1AL@CMICH.EDU
989-774-7628



CHRISTINA PROUT
ADMIN OFFICE ASSISTANT III
Master of Science in Administration
PROUT1CL@CMICH.EDU
989-774-6525

# **Master of Science in Administration Program**

The Master of Science in Administration (MSA) degree is designed for professional administrators looking to enhance their management and leadership skills.

- The administrative core, which makes up about half of the coursework, prepares you for leadership roles in diverse organizational settings.
- The remaining portion of the degree allows you to choose your concentration that best aligns to your specific interests and career goals.

#### **MSA Program Mission Statement**

MSA facilitates the intellectual and personal growth of professionals to be adaptable, innovative, and inclusive leaders who strategically navigate and guide change to achieve organizational success and enhance the communities they serve.

- Empathy and inspiration serve as our core principles to develop the ethical leaders needed in today's interconnected digital world.
- We foster intellectual curiosity through the exchange of ideas from diverse approaches and cultural backgrounds to advance the co-creation of our organizational values.

## MSA Leadership Statement

MSA graduates strive to be strategic leaders who guide sustainable, equitable, and inclusive organizational transformation and success.

#### **MSA** Department Location

The Master of Science in Administration program office is located on the third floor of the Education and Human Service building, EHS 334 which is in the southern part of Central Michigan University's main campus.



# **Admission and MSA Program Requirements**

### MSA Admission Requirements and Accelerated MSA Program

To view <u>MSA Admissions</u> information and for more program information on the <u>Accelerated MSA</u>, please see the <u>MSA website</u>.

#### **Graduate Student Responsibilities**

The graduate student is expected to:

- Familiarize yourself with the specific requirements of your concentration and the MSA program
- Ensure that all degree requirements are met within the designated timeframe by using the course map as a guide.
- Maintain regular contact with your advisor to stay informed about program requirements and receive guidance on successfully completing your degree

#### MSA Degree and MSA Certificate Requirements

The MSA degree is a 36-credit-hour program, with 18 hours of core classes and 18 hours based on your selected concentration. Graduates must maintain a cumulative 3.0 GPA in the course work. Currently the MSA program offers 11 concentrations and 12 graduate certificates.

# **MSA Core Courses Required (18 hours)**

#### Require Core I (15-hours)

MSA 600	Research Methods for Organizational Leaders	3(3-0)
MSA 601	Organizational Behavior and Leadership	3(3-0)
MSA 602	Financial Fluency for Leaders	3(3-0)
MSA 603	Leading through Strategic Planning and Implementation	3(3-0)
MSA 604	Inclusive and Intercultural Leaders	3(3-0)

#### Required Core II (3 hours)

The MSA Program does not require a thesis. However, the capstone course allows you to demonstrate the integration of your learning throughout the program. You can choose one of the two capstone courses that are available in the MSA program:

#### Select one of the following:

MSA 698	Applied Research and Professional Development Capstone Project	3(3-0)
MSA 699	Applied Research Capstone Project	3(Spec)

#### **MSA Program Concentrations**

Each MSA Concentration has a unique listing of required core, concentration and elective courses. For a description of each concentration along with courses, visit MSA in the <a href="https://documents.org/leach-red/4">Academic Bulletin 2025-2026</a>. You may search for individual courses as well.

Digital Management (STEM Approved)
Engineering Management (STEM Approved)
General Administration
Health Services Administration
Human Resources Administration
Leadership
Logistics and Acquisitions
Philanthropy and Nonprofit Organizations
Project Management (STEM Approved)
Public Administration
Talent Development

#### MSA Certificate Program

The 12-18 credit MSA Graduate Certificate program is designed for regularly admitted graduate students who desire advanced training in the field of administration.

- Credits successfully earned with the certification program may be used toward the MSA degree, if the concentration is the same.
- A maximum of six (6) semester hours from a previous or concurrent graduate degree or certificate can be transferred towards a graduate certificate.

#### The following MSA Graduate Certificates are offered:

- Administrative Essentials
- Digital Management
- Engineering Management
- General Administration
- Health Services Administration
- Human Resources Administration
- Leadership
- Logistics and Acquisitions
- Philanthropy and Nonprofit Organizations
- Project Management
- Public Administration
- Talent Development

# **Course Registration**

#### **Procedures**

Graduate students are limited to 15 credits per semester. Exceptions to this credit hour limitation will be granted for extenuating circumstances only and require the approval of your academic advisor.

#### **Dropping and Adding Classes**

Students may drop a course any time before the course meets. Please view the <u>Drop and Withdrawal Information</u> on the registrar's website. Dropping or withdrawing from a course could have a major impact on a student's financial aid, military benefits, or other benefits. Contact <u>financial aid</u> or <u>OneCentral</u> to discuss the best course of action that is most appropriate for your circumstances.

Courses can be added only during registration. Refer to the <u>Course Search & Registration</u> for registration dates and procedures. Registration drop/add and withdrawal can also be found on the <u>Registrar's academic calendar</u>. An additional fee of \$100.00 will be charged to all students registering on or after the first day of classes for the semester or session.

- Students who cease/fail to attend and have not formally withdrawn from a course will receive a grade of "E". A charge-back for financial aid may be incurred based on the student's last date of academic participation in the class.
- If you are having severe difficulty in a course, please talk to your advisor.

#### **Curriculum and Course Changes**

- All changes in curriculum and all course substitutions must be approved by the academic advisor and/or the MSA department. Deviations from the declared program must be approved and then amended in Degree Progress by the academic advisor.
- Students who take courses that have not been approved do so at the risk that those courses may not apply to their degree.

#### Full Time Student Status

The College of Graduate Studies considers a normal load for full-time resident study to be 9-12 hours in the fall and spring semesters and 4-6 hours in a six-week summer session. To qualify as a full-time student for financial benefits under Social Security Administration programs and/or certain loan agreements:

- A student must take a minimum of nine (9) credit hours during each of the fall and spring semesters.
- Financial aid only requires six (6) credit hours for part-time status, but requires the student to be enrolled in Fall, Spring, and Summer semesters.

- <u>International students</u> without graduate assistantships are required to enroll for a minimum of nine (9) hours per semester in order to maintain their student visa status with the *US Bureau of Citizenship and Immigration Services*.
- <u>International students</u> typically take 2 hybrid/in-person courses and 1 online course
  each semester. The last semester can be one course, but it is not recommended for
  the summer, as this will shorten the time for OPT following graduation, if it is
  secured.
- <u>International students</u> with a graduate assistantship need a minimum of 2 courses (6 credits) with a minimum of 1 hybrid or face-to-face course.

#### Maximum and Minimum Academic Loads

- Graduate students are limited to 15 credits per semester (see what a typical full-time load looks like above). Exceptions to the limitation require approval of the graduate advisor and the Director of Graduate Studies.
- Unless financial or immigration requirements define a minimum number of hours for status as a full-time graduate student, there is no minimum load requirement for graduate studies.

#### **Internships**

The MSA 690 Internship is a 300-hour internship experience, which enables students to apply what they have learned in the classroom to projects within an agency. The MSA 690 internship is not intended for students who are already employed in administrative positions. \*International students must adhere to CPT requirements.

Any student who is interested in an internship must meet with their academic advisor and the MSA Internship Coordinator. Please visit our MSA Internships webpage to view the Internship Handbook and Checklist.

# **Other Options for Earning Credit**

#### **Transfer Credits**

The MSA Program will consider graduate transfer credit for courses taken by correspondence. Courses must either be recommended by ACE for graduate credit or graduate level courses taken at a regionally accredited institution. Credit will be based on applicability of the courses to the student's concentration and the MSA Program. Students should also review the Graduate Transfer Credit policy found in the CMU bulletin for additional requirements.

To receive transfer credit, the student must fill out a Transfer Credit Request form. The form requires approvals of the student's MSA academic advisor and the MSA department.

#### **Maximum Number of Transfer Credits**

CMU graduate programs all have a maximum number of allowable transfer credits from another university. Generally, certificate programs allow a maximum of 6 semester hours. MSA degree student program plans may include no more than 15 semester hours of coursework from the College of Business Administration. More information can be found on the <a href="Iransfer Credit">Iransfer Credit</a> page of the Registrar's webpage.

#### Master's Degree: maximum of 50% of the semester hours

- Graduate transfer credits must be appropriate to the student's program, recommended by the student's academic advisor for use, and approved by the MSA department and the Registrar's Office for final review.
- Transfer credits are not considered in the computation of the student's graduate grade point average. Graduate transfer credit must meet the following criteria:
- Credits must have been earned at a regionally accredited higher education institution or one of the recognized standings (at the time the credits were earned) as defined by the Office of Graduate Studies.
- The credits are not in violation of any pertinent university or Office of Graduate Studies regulation, procedure, or policy.
- The credits do not correspond to a course previously taken at CMU;
- The credits were earned within the time limit for program completion.
- The credits are appropriate to the student's program and are not in conflict with credit limitations specified elsewhere in the *Graduate Bulletin*.
- As certified on the official graduate transcript, courses must be at the graduate level.
- The grade for the credits must be B or higher. Ungraded coursework will not be
  accepted in transfer unless accompanied by evidence that the work was of B or
  higher quality; Military coursework with a grade of outstanding or excellent is
  transferable.
- The student is in good standing (3.0 cumulative graduate GPA or higher) at the institution at which the credit was earned.
- The student is responsible for having official graduate transcripts sent by the
  institution in which the credit was earned directly to Graduate Admissions at CMU
  and for completing the most recent version of the <u>Graduate Transfer Credit Request</u>
  <u>form.</u>
- The credits must be approved by the student's academic advisor, the department, and the Registrar's Office for final review.
- Courses earned by correspondence will be eligible for graduate transfer credit unless otherwise stipulated in department admission requirements.
- Transfer credits must be earned within the time limit for program completion.
   Transfer credits <u>are not</u> eligible for extension of time consideration.
- Transfer credits are not included in the computation of the student's CMU graduate grade point average.

#### Certification to Credit

The Certification-to-Credit Program is the perfect way to use a professional certification you have earned and apply it to the degree you want. Certification-to-Credit program details.

- 1. The certification will be evaluated at the time of your initial application
- 2. You must be in good standing with your certification at the time you request credit.
- 3. Early advising is recommended to avoid redundancy in coursework.
- 4. You must contact CMU Prior Learning Office to verify your eligibility and determine eligible credits.
- 5. Credits will be applied to your degree after you complete 6 credits of your program at CMU with a 3.0 or higher GPA.
- 6. Certification will come in as transfer credit

For a listing of approved Certificates, visit the <u>Certification to Credit</u> program of the MSA website.

#### Prior Learning Assessment Credit

The Prior Learning Assessment Program provides academic recognition of college-level skills and knowledge acquired outside the formal college classroom. Credit may be earned for learning acquired through career and personal experiences in job-related activities, in community participation, or from training experiences through related on-the-job instruction or special schools.

- Students who apply for Prior Learning Credits submit a comprehensive portfolio
  which describes and documents their learning experiences. Evaluation is dependent
  on performance criteria established by a team of university faculty members.
- Portfolios should be submitted as early as possible in the degree program. The
  evaluation of portfolios is usually completed within 9-12 weeks.
- A one-time processing fee of \$125 is assessed when the Prior Learning Portfolio is submitted for evaluation. The student is required to pay only for prior learning assessment credits posted on the student's transcript; current recording fee is \$115 per graduate credit hour.
- MSA students may use up to 12 hours of prior learning credit on their program, the maximum allowable prior learning credit and certification-to-credits is 15 credit hours.

# **Academic Integrity and more**

# **Academic Integrity**

Academic integrity is a cornerstone of the University's commitment to the principles of free inquiry. Students are responsible for learning and upholding professional standards of research, writing, assessment, and ethics in their areas of study.

- In the academic community, the high value placed on truth implies a corresponding intolerance of scholastic dishonesty. Written or other work which students submit must be the product of their own efforts and must be consistent with appropriate standards of professional ethics.
- Academic dishonesty, which includes cheating, plagiarism, and other forms of dishonest or unethical behavior is prohibited.

#### Students with Disabilities

Central Michigan University provides <u>students with disabilities</u> reasonable accommodations to participate in university activities, programs, and services. Students with disabilities and would like to discuss the resources available, reach out by phone (989) 774-3018 or email <u>sds@cmich.edu</u> at least 4 weeks prior to a scheduled event or commencement of classes.

#### **Academic Probation**

If a student's cumulative graduate GPA falls below a 3.0, the student is placed on academic probation.

- Requirements outlined by the College of Graduate Studies will need to be fulfilled in order to be removed from probation.
- Graduate students are given one to two semesters of enrollment after being placed on academic probation to raise their cumulative graduate GPA to the required 3.0.
- If a student does not raise his/her cumulative graduate GPA to a 3.0 within two semesters of enrollment after being placed on probation, the student will be dematriculated.

#### **Inactive Status**

If, after completing one or more courses, no further graduate credit is earned for 3 consecutive years, a student is classified as inactive, and admission is terminated. To reactivate the admission status, a student must reapply to the MSA program but will not have to pay the application fee, provided the student is applying to the same program. There are, of course, no guarantees that the student will be readmitted, since admission standards may change.

#### **Time Limits**

Two calendar years should be adequate for the completion of the MSA degree program.

- Full-time students can complete the program by taking 3 courses for the Fall and Spring semesters over 2 years.
- Part-time students can complete the program by taking 2 courses during the Fall,
   Spring, and Summer semesters over 2 years.

\*In all instances, requirements must be completed **within 7 years** from the time of your initial coursework. The Office of Graduate Studies may grant a policy exception if requested. However, transfer credit that is more than 7 years old at the time of graduation *will not* count towards a graduate degree program.

#### **Financial Assistance for Graduate Students**

#### **Legacy Tuition**

Students with at least one parent or grandparent who has graduated with an earned degree from

CMU are eligible for in-state tuition.

#### **Out-Of-State Tuition Merit Award**

Open to all international graduate students who meet the following:

- Cumulative undergraduate GPA of at least 3.0 on the US 4.0 scale.
- An appropriate entrance exam score:
  - GRE (Graduate Records Exam) Verbal score of at least 157 and Quantitative score of at least 152 (note that the old GRE test equivalents are 560 Verbal and 660 Quantitative); or
  - GMAT (Graduate Management Admission Test) Minimum GMAT score of 600;
     or
  - MAT (Miller Analogies Test) Minimum MAT score of 418
- Proof of English Proficiency provide with a TOEFL minimum score of 100 iBT or 600 PBT

You can find information about graduate tuition rates, graduate assistantships, and financial aid for domestic graduate students on the <u>Cost and Financial Aid</u> webpage of the Graduate Admissions webpage.

#### **Financial Assistance**

Students interested in financial assistance should contact the Office of Scholarships and Financial Aid, Central Michigan University, 205 Warriner Hall, Mt. Pleasant, Michigan 48859. Telephone (989) 774-3674, Fax: (989) 774-3634, e-mail: financialaid@cmich.edu

 There is no guarantee that any financial assistance or graduate scholarships will be available.

#### Financial/Billing Questions

Students who have any financial or billing questions outside of financial aid, contact OneCentral at 989-774-3618 or OneCentral@mich.edu

#### **On-Campus Employment**

Jobs are available on campus through the Student Employment Office, 121 Bovee University Center, (989) 774-3881. Vacancies are also posted on the <u>Student Employment Services</u> webpage.

#### MSA Graduate Assistantships

Graduate Assistantships are available for on-campus students who are working on their MSA degree. Appointment to an assistantship is an **honor** in which **academic excellence is encouraged and rewarded**. Appointments are awarded to students who have **records of high-quality academic attainment** in the past or who are judged to offer promise of high-quality academic achievement in the future.

The Department offers quarter-time positions *depending on the department's needs and available funds*. Graduate assistants are paid a stipend and given a certain number of tuition-free credit hours during their assistantships. Graduate Assistantships are for students in the MSA program at CMU's main campus in Mount Pleasant, Michigan.

Administrative graduate assistants work with both academic and non-academic units. Duties will vary, but may include gathering, organizing, and analyzing information, implementing and evaluating programs, and recruitment events. This position does not include teaching or research.

#### HOW TO APPLY FOR AN ASSISTANTSHIP

Complete a graduate assistantship application located on the <u>Graduate Assistantships</u> tab of the MSA website (Spring 2026 applications will be available in September 2025, Fall 2026 applications will be available in February).

#### NOTE:

- The assistantship positions are for one academic semester. There are no graduate assistant positions available in the summer.
- Returning MSA graduate assistants are given priority for graduate assistantships.

# **Professional Development and Assistance for Graduate Students**

#### MSA Peer Mentorship Program

Launched in March 2024, the **Peer Mentorship Program** was designed to provide additional support to MSA students facing challenges with coursework, assignments, or understanding course materials. This initiative began as a pilot program in response to frequent student inquiries about assignment guidance and course-related concerns.

Currently, we have **Peer Mentors** who are available Monday through Thursday to assist students. Students can make appointments with peer mentors for both virtual and in-person meetings by clicking on this booking <u>link</u> or scanning the QR code provided:



#### **MSA Student Success Series**

The MSA Student Success Series is designed to support new and continuing on-campus MSA students with essential tools for academic and career success. The series consists of four sessions, starting with the MSA New Student Orientation and followed by three additional workshops held each Thursday for three consecutive weeks

#### Session 1: MSA New Student Orientation

Kick-off event to welcome new students to the MSA community and provide an overview of available resources, academic expectations, and student success strategies.

#### Session 2: Blackboard and Academic Integrity

This session introduces students to **Blackboard**, showing them how to navigate the platform and access coursework essentials. It also covers the importance of **academic integrity**, emphasizing the university's policies and expectations.

Session 3: Navigating Campus Jobs & Internship Opportunities Students learn how to find campus jobs and explore internship opportunities, with a focus on securing full-time positions and internships after graduation. This session offers guidance on where and how to search for opportunities both on and off-campus.

Session 4: Career Development & Resume Building Workshop In collaboration with the Career Development Center, this workshop helps students craft professional resumes and explore career opportunities for graduate students, focusing on full-time roles and long-term career planning.

# **Graduation Requirements and Procedures**

To graduate, a Master of Science in Administration degree student must:

- Receive Regular Admission into the program
- Fulfill requirements as prescribed on the MSA degree.
- Obtain a cumulative graduate GPA of 3.0 (B) or higher in graded graduate coursework at CMU and a cumulative graduate GPA of 3.0 (B) or higher in all coursework in the student's degree program.
- Earn 18 or more hours for the degree in courses at or above the 600 level.
- Fulfill all requirements of the chosen curriculum and all other university regulations pertaining to the program.
- Complete all requirements for the graduate certificate or master's degree within seven years after matriculation into the program.
- · Complete all requirements pertinent to Plan B
- Submit the application for graduation by the date specified.

#### **Application for Graduation**

Master's Degrees are not awarded automatically upon completion of scholastic requirements. Students need to submit a graduation application by the semester prior to their anticipated graduation date. Students can apply through Degree Progress. There is a \$50 application fee. Deadline dates are published in the current Graduate Bulletin.

#### **Graduation Audit**

After a student applies for graduation, the student's record is audited by the Registrar's Office to verify completion of program requirements. After the audit is completed, the student will be notified by email. This email will either indicate that all requirements are satisfied or that the student has the requirements left to complete. In the latter case, the audit form indicates what the student must do before graduating. Students who fail to complete requirements by the deadline will receive a notice indicating that they will not graduate. Students must reapply to graduate in a subsequent semester; the fee for each graduate application is \$50.

#### **Diplomas**

Diplomas are mailed to the student's permanent address on record about 6-8 weeks after commencement. Diplomas are not distributed during graduation ceremonies.

#### **Graduation Ceremonies**

All students receiving degrees and graduate certificates are invited to participate in the official graduation ceremonies conducted in May and December each year on Central Michigan University's main campus in Mount Pleasant. Information about the ceremony is emailed to prospective graduates about four to six weeks prior to the event.

#### **For International Students**

#### **English Proficiency Standards**

Please view the International Admissions webpage.

# Curricular Practical Training (CPT) and Optional Practical Training (OPT)

Information about CPT and OPT can be found here:

International Student and Scholars Services | Tel: (989) 774-4308, Email: isss@cmich.edu

Location: 330 Ronan Hall

#### **Curricular Practical Training (CPT)**

Curricular Practical Training (CPT) for F-1 students is intended to provide hands-on, practical work experience in situations where the work serves as an integral part of a student's academic program and is **prior** to completion of that program.

Students who have received one year or more of full-time CPT in an academic level are ineligible for Optional Practical Training (OPT) in that same academic level. Visit the <u>ISSS</u> webpage for more information.

To be eligible for curricular practical training:

- 1. You must have been in F-1 status and in your program for one academic year.
- 2. You must have a job or internship offer for a position that directly relates to your degree program or major field of study.
- 3. Your degree program must require practical training as a condition of graduation or must offer a credit-bearing training opportunity that is an important, but optional, part of the program of study.

#### Optional Practical Training (OPT)

Optional Practical Training (OPT) is defined as: "temporary employment for practical training directly related to the student's major area of study."

OPT may be authorized to an F-1 student who has lawfully enrolled in an academic program on a full-time basis for one full academic year. The student may apply for OPT employment authorization for work that is directly related to his or her area of study. It is intended to provide hands-on practical work experience complementary to the student's academic program. English language training students are not eligible for OPT.

#### 24 Month STEM Extension of OPT

F-1 students who completed a bachelor's, master's, or doctoral degree in a STEM field and are currently engaged in Post-Completion OPT may apply for a 24 Month STEM extension of their OPT if they have a job or job offer from an E-verified employer.

Although an employment offer is not required to apply for standard OPT, it is expected that a student will work during his or her period of employment authorization. Students applying for a 24-month STEM extension are required to have an offer of employment with an E-Verify registered employer. Students on Post-Completion OPT may only accumulate a total of 90 days of unemployment.

# **Important Offices and Services**

#### **MSA Program**

Location: 334 EHS Hours: 8am-5pm, M-F Phone: 774-6525 Email: msa@cmich.edu

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/academics/colleges/college-education-human-

services/departments/masters-of-science-administration

#### Office of Graduate Studies

Location: 251 Foust Hours: 8am-5pm, M-F Phone: 774-6777

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/office-research-graduate-

studies/graduate-studies

#### **CMU Online Programs**

Location: 802 Industrial Drive

Hours: 8am-5pm, M-F Phone: (877) 268-4636

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/admissions-aid/global-campus/cmu-online

## International Students and Scholars (ISSS)

Location: 330 Ronan Hours: 8am-5pm, M-F Phone: 774-4308

Website https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/international-student-scholars

# Career Development Center

Location: 240 Ronan Hours: 8am-5pm, M-F Phone: 774-3068

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/career-development-center

#### Veterans' Resources Center

Location: 110 Bovee University Center

Hours: 8am-5pm, M-F

Phone: 774-7991

Website https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/veterans-resource-center

#### Student Account Services and University Billing

Location: 119 Bovee University Center

Phone: 774-3618

Website <a href="https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/finance-administrative-services/financial-services-reporting/student-account-services-university-billing">https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/finance-administrative-services/financial-services-reporting/student-account-services-university-billing</a>

#### **Writing Center**

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/academics/colleges/liberal-arts-social-sciences/centers-

institutes/writing-center

#### **Library Services**

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/research/cmu-library/library-services

#### Multicultural Academic Student Services

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/multicultural-academic-student-

services

# **Counseling Center**

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/counseling-center

#### **Student Health Services**

Location: 220 Foust Hall Phone: 989-774-6599

Website: https://www.cmuhealth.org/services/mount-pleasant-clinics/student-health-

services

#### IT HelpDesk

Location: 101 Park Library Phone: 989-774-3662

Website: https://www.cmich.edu/offices-departments/office-information-technology/help-

desk